72016.3 No-89183-4**X** RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Dec 20, 2013, 2:54 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

THE	SUPR	EME	COL	RT	OF	THE

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

STATE OF WASHINGTON

SANDRA SHELLY JACKSON, an individual,

Petitioner,

v.

QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORP. OF WASHINGTON, et al.,

Respondents,

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Scott E. Stafne, WSBA # 6964 Joshua B. Trumbull, WSBA # 40992 Attorneys for Appellant Stafne Trumbull, LLC 239 North Olympic Avenue Arlington, WA 98223 Phone: (360) 403-8700

Fax: (360) 386-4005

I. INTRODUCTION

Jackson's argument section is organized as follows: Part 1 addresses the nature of superior courts' subject matter jurisdiction; Part 2 addresses how RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) and (b) should be construed; Part 3 addresses why Jackson's complaint should not have been dismissed pursuant to CR 12(b)(6).

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS:

1. The trial court erred in failing to consider the nature of its authority, *i.e.* subject matter jurisdiction, if any, under the DTA.

ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 1:

- 1.) What role, if any, did the framers of the Washington Constitution assign to the judicial department, as opposed to the legislature, with regard to disputes at law involving the title and possession of real estate?
- 2.) Is the specifically enumerated jurisdiction set forth in Const. art. IV, § 6 exclusive?

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 2:

If the Superior Court did not err in failing to determine the nature of its subject matter jurisdiction, then the Superior Court erred in failing to construe the meaning of the DTA provisions, particularly RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) & (b).

ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 2:

- 1.) Does the first sentence of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) direct a "trustee" to make a judicial inquiry?
- 2.) If so, must this judicial inquiry be performed by the trustee pursuant to "fundamental rules of ... jurisprudence"?
- 3.) Should the first sentence of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) be construed so to require that the word "beneficiary" and "owner" be interpreted as having separate and distinct meaning?
- 4.) In order for RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) to be constitutional must Jackson have notice and an opportunity to participate in the trustee's judicial inquiry?
- 5.) Having created a judicial inquiry in the first sentence of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) can the legislature mandate that inquiry be resolved based on a self-serving declaration that does not comply with the Civil Rules of Evidence or any semblance thereof?

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 3:

The trial Court erred in dismissing Jackson's complaint under CR 12(b)(6).

ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 3:

1.) Did the amended complaint set forth facts which could result in liability for defendants where it alleged McCarthy & Holthus (M&H)

and Quality Loan Service Corp. (QLSC), working together as a biased trustee in violation of a trustee's duty of good faith, failed to comply with RCW 61.24.030(7)(a)?

- 2.) Did the amended complaint set forth facts which could result in liability for the defendants where it alleged the deed of trust had been split from the note?
- 3.) Did M&H's alleged corporate veil defense preclude any possible liability of M&H to Jackson sufficient to grant at CR 12(b)(6) motion?
- 4.) Can the superior court take judicial notice of matters outside the pleadings pursuant to CR 12(b)(6) for purposes of resolving the claims on the merits?
- 5.) Did Jackson waive all of her briefed arguments by orally arguing the nature of the superior court's subject matter jurisdiction?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Complaint.

On April 4, 2013 Appellant Sandra Shelly Jackson (Jackson) filed a Complaint in King County Superior Court (Trial Court) naming as defendants: Quality Loan Service Corporation of Washington (QLSC), McCarthy Holthus, LLP (M&H), Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems (MERS), U.S. Bank, National Association as trustee for WAMU

Mortgage Pass Through Certificates for WMALT 2006-AR4 Trust (hereafter US Bank), and the investors in WMALT 2006-AR4 Trust c/o JP Morgan Bank N.A. (hereafter J.P. Morgan Chase). CP 1-68. An Amended Complaint (CP 82-108) was filed on April 30, 2013 naming the same parties and alleging with more specificity the relationship between M&H and QLSC. Compare e.g. CP 4:1-9 and 85:1-15 for the limited differences in the complaints.

The amended complaint asserted the Superior Court had original jurisdiction to determine all facts and legal issues in "cases at law involving the title and possession of real estate". *See* Const. art. IV § 6.

See e.g. CP 83, ¶1.4. See also para. CP 90 ¶ 3.14.

The complaint alleged the trustee (QLSC and M&H acting together) were misusing the DTA in order to take Jackson's home for the benefit of the purported beneficiary defendants by utilizing the MERS foreclosure system. CP 82-108, ¶ 2.3; 3.5; 5.1-5.13. In this regard, Jackson alleged that QLSC was operationally related to M&H, a law firm which owed a fiduciary duty to the purported beneficiary defendants in violation of RCW 61.24.010(3)&(4). CP 93, paragraph 5.2. Further, Jackson's complaint alleged that none of the purported "beneficiary defendants" (MERS or U.S. Bank or J.P. Morgan Chase) was a "beneficiary" within the meaning of RCW 61.24.005(2). CP 93, ¶ 5.3.

In support of her claims that the trustee had not met its burden under RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) to have proof that "beneficiary is the owner of any promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust" the complaint alleged or attached exhibits, documenting: the applicable deed of trust, CP 38-52 including Paragraph 20. CP 50; CP 88, ¶¶ 3.6 and 3.7. Paragraph 20 purports to allow the transfer of partial interests in her promissory note as well as the deed of trust. CP 50; CP 88, ¶¶ 3.6 and 3.7. Jackson also alleged in the complaint that the deed of trust purported to make MERS the beneficiary. CP 39 Definitions (E); CP 40 Transfer of Rights in Property; CP 88, ¶ 3.5. MERS was a different entity than the one which claimed to be foreclosing.

Jackson also attached an unauthenticated and unendorsed document evidencing the obligations secured by the deed of trust. CP 29-34. This document is dated March 17, 2006. It defines "note holder" as follows:

"I understand that the Lender may transfer this Note. The Lender or anyone who takes this Note by transfer and who is entitled to receive payments under this Note is called the "Note Holder."

Finally, Jackson's complaint alleged or attached documents which showed 1.) an undated allonge purporting to convey the "NOTE DATED MARCH 17, 2006" from Cameron Financial Group, Inc. DBA 1st Choice

Mortgage to Countrywide Bank N.A.(CP 36); 2.) an undated Notice of Default alleging non-payment from January 1, 2011 to November 30, 2012 which identifies US Bank as beneficiary (CP 55-58); 3.) a Notice of Trustee's Sale recorded December 21, 2012 which states the Deed of Trust dated 3/17/2006 was assigned by MERS as nominee for Cameron Financial Group, Inc. DBA 1st Choice Mortgage to U.S. Bank, National Association, as Trustee and Successor in Interest to Bank of America, National Association as Trustee and as successor by merger to LaSalle Bank, National Association as Trustee for Washington Mutual Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series WMALT 2006-AR4 Trust. CP 60-63.

The Defendants' Motions to Dismiss.

On April 26, 2013 M&H moved for dismissal claiming that QLSC was the trustee and a separate corporation. CP 77-81. M&H argued that because Jackson's complaint had not alleged the corporate veil between M&H and QLSC should be pierced, their claims must be dismissed. CP 79:27-80:27. Jackson responded that by commingling activities and personnel to perform nonjudicial foreclosures under the DTA, both entities are performing requisite duties of the trustee. CP 116-124. Jackson also argued that under the Rules of Professional Conduct M&H and QLSC were not separate entities when performing activities within the judicial sphere of government. See Transcript of May 17, 2013 Oral Argument

(5/17/13 Transcript), pp. 5-6. See also CP 129-132. The superior court below accepted additional briefing on this issue, which can be found in the record at CP 129-132; 133-136. On June 14, 2013 the Trial Court granted M&H's CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss with prejudice. CP 167.

On June 11, 2013 and June 19, 2013 the remaining defendants filed motions to dismiss. CP 137-149; 168-174. Oral argument was heard on July 19, 2013. Counsel for MERS, US Bank, and JP Morgan Bank N.A. acknowledged his clients had notice of the claims Jackson was making against them. Transcript of July 19, 2013 Oral Argument (7/19/13 Transcript) 6:9-9:18. Counsel asked the Court to take judicial notice of the documents attached to plaintiff's complaint as proof contradicting the complaint's allegations. *Id.*, p. 13:18-14:5; 29:23-32:1. Similarly, counsel for QLSC (an attorney from M&H) indicated that QLSC had notice of Jackson's claims, but argued that QLSC complied with the DTA because it relied upon "public records." *Id.*, p. 15:10-24.

Jackson's counsel objected to the use of judicial notice in this manner; insisting Jackson was entitled to "expect the allegations of her complaint to be taken as true." *Id.*, p. 17:12-14. *See also* CP 180:20-184:12.

During oral argument Jackson, through her attorney, offered a hypothetical that indicated QLSC's "in-house counsel" was an employee

of M&H. 7/19/13 Transcript, p. 17:15-24:11. Further, the trial court was provided an email from QLSC's in house counsel to borrower's counsel, which advised in its disclaimer section:

"... If you have a question about a specific factual situation, you should contact an attorney directly. Should you desire to obtain a full opinion, we would be happy to submit your inquiry to McCarthy Holthus, LLP for handling."

Id., 17:18-23.

On August 8, 2013 the Trial Court issued an order that dismissed all defendants with prejudice. CP 215-16. Jackson timely filed a notice of this appeal on August 9, 2013. CP 218-227. Jackson thereafter filed a statement requesting direct review by the Supreme Court pursuant to RAP 4.2. That request is currently pending.

Clarification of Hypothetical on Appeal.

By way of conceptual backdrop for the legal determinations to be resolved in this appeal, Jackson proffers the following clarified hypothetical:

M&H and QLSC work together as a vertically integrated foreclosure enterprise (Enterprise). Such an enterprise is characterized by a law firm which represents lenders at the same time it construes the meaning of the DTA for its affiliated trustee services company. The enterprise's construction of the DTA benefits its clients, in this case the purported beneficiary specifically, and the lending industry generally.

In other words, in performing judicial inquiries QLSC relies on M&H's construction of the DTA in favor of the purported beneficiary, to the detriment of the home owner. Thus, QLSC fails to apply a neutral construction of the law to the facts before the trustee.

IV. ARGUMENT

- A. The Superior Court has original exclusive jurisdiction of all cases at law involving the title and possession of real estate and of unlawful and forcible detainer.
- 1. Standard of review.

Subject matter jurisdiction is reviewed de novo. *Crosby v. Spokane County*, 137 Wash.2d 296, 301, 971 P.2d 32 (1999). Constitutional issues are also reviewed de novo. *State v Jorgenson*, 2013 Wash. LEXIS 936 (Wash. Nov. 21, 2013).

2. The framers of Washington's Constitution intended to constitutionally restrict the legislature's power to enact laws.

The United States Constitution became effective in 1789¹, and contains only seven articles. *U.S. Const.* art. I-VII. These were enacted for purposes of separating the federal government's power into three branches, *Id.*, Art. 1-3, and creating a federalist system of State and Federal governments in which each sovereign would have incentive to correct the abuses of the other. *Id.*, Art. 4 and 6. *See* The Federalist No. 28, at 179-80 (A. Hamilton) (J. Cooke ed. 1961).

¹ Paul Rodgers (2011). United States Constitutional Law: An Introduction. McFarland. p. 109

Washington's Constitution, on the other hand was enacted in 1889, contains 27 articles, and constitutionally resolves contemporary problems and public policy matters that the federal government (and most state governments) left for future resolution by the legislative branch of government. Snure, Brian, Comment, A Frequent Recurrence to Fundamental Principles: Individual Rights, Free Government, and the Washington State Constitution, 67 Wash. Law Rev. 669, 675 & 677 (1992).

Const. art. II, § 1 originally bestowed legislative authority on the House of Representatives and senate. But section 28 prohibited the legislature from enacting certain types of laws, including the following:

Subsections 4, 9, and 11 above substantiate drafter's concerns about real property interests. Subsection 6 reiterates the drafter's substantial concern against enacting special legislation granting "corporations" powers or privileges. *See* infra. Subsection 12 prohibits the legislature from legalizing the unauthorized or invalid act of any officer. Subsection 17 prohibits the legislature from enacting limitations on civil actions.

As is discussed further herein, Jackson contends the DTA violates several of these provisions by creating a trustee to exercise exclusive judicial power reserved to the superior court. See infra.

Despite the limitations placed on the legislature to protect individual liberty and property, the problems which gave birth to such restrictions continued. Indeed, it quickly became clear that Washington's legislature was not being as responsive to the will of the people as the drafters intended:

"It had been found impossible, for example, to get the legislature to enact a statute creating a railroad commission...Although popular demand became so strong for it that a railroad commission law was enacted in 1905, it cannot be said that the political conditions about Olympia had been improved. Legislative arrangements continued to be made between legislators and lobbyists over private bars in downtown hotel rooms and United States senators were chosen in similar fashion."

Johnson, Claudius O., The Adoption of the Initiative and Referendum in Washington, 35.4 The Pacific Northwest Quarterly 291, 294-295 (1944).

In 1899 Oregon's legislature amended its constitution to provide for direct legislation by the people. The people of Washington quickly seized on the idea as a potential solution. *Id.* An organized effort lead by the Washington State Grange and supported in the legislature by Senator L. C. Craw and Representative T. C. Miles, both framers of the Washington Constitution, resulted in introduction of a direct legislative amendment to the constitution. *Id.* The amendment was reintroduced each session until it passed. *Id.* at 296.

Other steps to secure power in the people were more quickly achieved; the direct primary was enacted in 1907. *Id.* By 1910 the Grange joined by the Washington Federation of Labor and others, began a public education campaign successful enough that by July C. C. Gose, president of the Washington Bar and an opponent of direct legislation, was quoted as saying "Throughout our state today many people are crying out for the initiative and referendum in legislation..." *Id.* at 297-9. The amendment was introduced as House Bill 153 in 1911 and passed both houses while resisting several amendments that would have impaired its function. *Id.* at 300.

The direct legislation Amendment to the Constitution suggests that legislative corruption by corporate interests and the wealthy was not immediately eradicated but remained (and some would argue remains) a problem, for which there has been (and is) no simple solution.

3. The Constitution restricts the legislature's promotion of corporate interests when doing so is to the detriment of individual freedoms and property rights.

Recently, this Court acknowledged corrupt legislative entanglement with corporations gave rise to provisions in the Constitution seeking to prevent similar legislative abuses in the future. *See Anderson v. King County*, 158 Wn.2d 1, 138 P.3d 963 (2006). As this Court noted in *Anderson*, the legislative branch was not the only branch of government which was not held in particularly high esteem by citizens of the Washington territory.

"[L]egislative abuses were rampant--the territorial legislature reportedly passed few laws in 1862-63 but enacted numerous pieces of special legislation; governors were criticized for abusing patronage power; there was criticism of the judiciary due to "absentee judges, political manipulations, and the lack of local control over appointments"; and the "presence of powerful corporations in Washington was often at the root of the governmental corruption." Snure, supra, 67 Wash. L. Rev. at 671.

Id., at 16.

It is interesting to note that the United States Constitution, which created the separation of powers in the federal government, was followed

by the ratification of ten amendments, known as the "Bill of Rights" on December 15, 1791². The first article of Washington's Constitution is entitled "The Declaration of Rights" and addresses individual liberties. Significantly, this Article precedes those establishing Washington's three branches of government. One commentator has suggested the framers intended that the people themselves be the fourth branch of government. Snure, supra, 67 Wash. L. Rev. at 683-685.

A purpose of the Federal Bill of Rights was protection of the States and their citizens from abuses of power by the Federal Government. *See*U.S. Const. Amendment 1 ("Congress shall pass no law..."); Amendment 6 (Protecting rights in judicial proceedings); Amendment 10 (reserving authority to the States). There is no evidence the drafters' of the Federal Constitution perceived any threat to individual liberty and private property arising from corporations.

Until the Industrial Revolution, general incorporation statutes did not exist and corporations were rare. Dodd, Edwin M. American Business Corporations Until 1860, With Special Reference to Massachusetts at 14-15 Harvard Univ. Press (1954). During those times, corporate form was acquired by petitioning one of the thirteen state legislatures for a special corporate charter which often restricted the corporation, inter alia, to

² The Constitution of the United States of America: Analysis and Interpretation, S. Doc. No. 103-6, 103rd Cong., 1st Sess.. U.S. Government Printing Office, 1996. p. 25 n.2.

specific activities, sources of revenue and a particular, often public, purpose. Hurst, James W. The Legitimacy of the Business Corporation in the Law of the United States, 1780-1970 at 7-15; 133-135 The Lawbook Exchange, Ltd., (2010). See also Millon, David. Theories of the Corporation, 1990.2 Duke Law Journal 201, 207-209 (1990); Hamill, Susan P. From Special Privilege to General Utility: A Continuation of Willard Hurst's Study of Corporations, 49 Am. UL Rev. 81, 84-86 (1999).

On the other hand, in 1889 the framers of the Washington

Constitution believed it necessary to afford individuals protection from
both the State and non-municipal corporations. Our Constitution
reflects the concern that individual liberty and private property should
be protected from both the government and private corporations;
especially where legislative power seeks to promote the special
interests of corporations and the wealthy. See e.g. Const. art. I, §12

(Special Privileges and Immunities Prohibited); Const. art. II, § 28

(Prohibiting certain categories of legislation); Const. art. XII

(Regulating non-municipal corporations). In Grant County this Court
observed:

The Washington [Special Privileges and Immunities] provision differs from that of the Oregon provision only in that the Washington provision added a reference to corporations, which our

³ An example of such a charter can be found in *Trustees of Dartmouth College v. Woodward*, 17 U.S. (Wheat.) 518, 539-545, 4 L. Ed. 629 (1819).

framers perceived as manipulating the lawmaking process. Thompson, 69 TEMP. L. REV. at 1253. Washington's addition of the reference to corporations demonstrates that our framers were concerned with undue political influence exercised by those with large concentrations of wealth, which they feared more than they feared oppression by the majority. Brian Snure, Comment, A Frequent Recurrence to Fundamental Principles: Individuals Rights, Free Government, and the Washington State Constitution, 67 WASH. L. REV. 669, 671-72 (1992); Thompson, 69 TEMP. L. REV. at 1253 (alteration of Oregon model "reflected the contemporary populist suspicion of the political influence accompanying large concentrations of wealth"). Our framers' concern with avoiding favoritism toward the wealthy clearly differs from the main goal of the equal protection clause, which was primarily concerned with preventing discrimination against former slaves. Slaughter-House Cases, 83 U.S. (16 Wall.) 36, 81, 21 L. Ed. 394 (1872). (Emphasis Supplied)

Grant County Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v City of Moses Lake, 150 Wn. 2d 791, 808, 83 P.3d 419 (2004).

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