RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Mar 20, 2014, 4:51 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

72016-3

No. 89183-4

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SANDRA SHELLEY JACKSON, an individual

Petitioner;

٧.

QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORP. OF WASHINGTON, et. al.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORPORATION OF WASHINGTON AND McCARTHY & HOLTHUS, LLP'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Kathryn P. Salyer, WSBA # 36492 Eleanor A. DuBay, WSBA # 45828 Tomasi Salyer Baroway 121 SW Morrison St., Suite 1850 Portland, OR 97204 P: (503) 894-9900 F: (971) 544-7236 ksayler@tsbnwlaw.com edubay@tsbnwlaw.com



ردر دراتی

###

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

Indeed, the Legislature provided specific duties of a trustee, separate and apart from the duties a lawyer might otherwise owe to his or her client. Pursuant to RCW 61.24.010(3), "[t]he trustee or successor trustee shall have no fiduciary duty or fiduciary obligation to the grantor or other persons having an interest in the property subject to the deed of trust." In addition, the trustee (whether or not also a lawyer) owes a duty of good faith to the borrower. RCW 61.24.010(4). QLSW's duties are created by statute, and there is nothing in the statute, its legislative history, or case law, to suggest that the trustee's duties are expanded by the professions of its owners. The allegations concerning the ownership of QLSW are an erroneous legal conclusion and they do not support Plaintiff's DTA claim.

# 2) The Rules of Professional Conduct Do Not Apply to QLSW.

Plaintiff's DTA claim also rests on the legal conclusion that M&H's alleged ownership of QLSW imposes the ethical responsibilities of attorneys on QLSW, and that these ethical responsibilities may conflict

with QLSW's statutory duties under the DTA. (OB 6, 46.) Not so. The RPC does not apply to QLSW, a nonlawyer, but even if it did, the RPC was "never intended as a basis for civil liability." *Hizey v. Carpenter*, 119 Wn.2d 251, 261 (1992).

.

RPC 5.7 expressly addresses the situation where, as alleged here, a lawyer or law firm owns a distinct entity through which law-related services are provided, which is separate from the legal services the lawyer provides to his or her clients. RPC 5.7(a)(2). Comment 4 to RPC 5.7 applies here and provides:

Law-related services also may be provided through an entity that is distinct from that through which the lawyer provides legal services. If the lawyer individually or with others has control of such an entity's operations, the Rule requires the lawyer to take reasonable measures to assure that each person using the services of the entity knows that the services provided by the entity are not legal services and that the Rules of Professional Conduct that relate to the client-lawyer relationship do not apply. (emphasis added)

Thus, contrary to Plaintiff's arguments, a law firm's ethical duty to its clients does not extend to the services provided by a separate entity such as QLSW. While the law firm, M&H, admittedly owes ethical duties to its clients, (see RPC 5.7(a)), QLSW owes no duties beyond those imposed by the DTA. Therefore, even if Plaintiff's allegations concerning the law firm's ownership of QLSW were true, that ownership does not impose any heightened duties on QLSW. The RPC does not provide a basis on which Plaintiff may prevail against QLSW in this case.

# 3) Plaintiff's Factual Allegations concerning the Operative Documents are Insufficient to State a Claim and are Contradicted by the Exhibits to Her Complaint.

. .

Plaintiff also argued that QLSW violated the DTA by failing to include the identity of the note holder in the foreclosure notices. (CP 94.) But the Notice of Default and Notice of Trustee's Sale, attached to her Complaint as Exhibits 4 and 5, contain the required disclosures. (CP 55, 60.) Both documents identify the note owner as U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee for Washington Mutual Pass-Through Certificates Series WMALT 2006-AR4. The Notice of Default identifies the note owner as:

"U.S. Bank, National Association as trustee for WAMU Mortgage Pass Through Certificate for WMALT 2006-AR4 Trust" (CP 55),

whereas the Notice of Trustee's Sale identifies the beneficiary as:

"U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee, Successor in Interest to Bank of America, National Association as Trustee as successor by merger to LaSalle Bank, National Association as Trustee for Washington Mutual Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series WMALT 2006-AR4" (CP 60).

Finally, the Amended Complaint alleges that the Deed of Trust did not include a statement that the property was not being used for agricultural purposes in violation of RCW 61.24.030(2) (see CP 94-95). However, a copy of the Deed of Trust which Plaintiff attached to her Complaint clearly contained such a statement. (CP 52.)

Plaintiff's Amended Complaint, like her Opening Brief, is rife with conclusory statements that are inconsistent with the exhibits attached to her Complaint. Under the civil rules, these exhibits are part of the pleading. CR 10(c). The actual facts proffered by Plaintiff in the pleadings are contradictory and fail to demonstrate any violation of the DTA. The Court should affirm dismissal of the DTA claim against QLSW.

## E. The Trial Court Correctly Dismissed Plaintiff's Claims against M&H.

Plaintiff alleges that the law firm M&H has taken or is attempting to take actions to foreclose on her property, but, as noted above, the exhibits to her Complaint reflect that the nonjudicial foreclosure was being conducted by QLSW. Plaintiff also attempted to impose liability on M&H by arguing that the corporate veil should be pierced, an argument which is equally specious. As there are no facts which could exist to justify recovery by Plaintiff against M&H, this Court should affirm the trial court's dismissal of Plaintiff's Complaint against M&H. *Bowman v. Two*, 104 Wn.2d 181, 183 (1985).

#### 1) M&H is Not Foreclosing on the Deed of Trust.

The facts alleged in Plaintiff's Amended Complaint, and even her hypothetical to this Court, demonstrate that the nonjudicial foreclosure of her property is being advanced by QLSW as successor trustee of the Deed of Trust. Neither the alleged facts, nor the documents attached to the Amended Complaint, nor the documents in the public record, show that the law firm M&H has taken or is attempting to take any action to foreclose on the property. CR 10(c) ("A copy of any written instrument

which is an exhibit to a pleading is a part thereof for all purposes.") Nevertheless, Plaintiff contends that both QLSW and M&H have violated the DTA because the law firm "owns, operates or has substantial interest in the operations and workings of QLSW." (CP 85.) This Court should affirm the trial court's dismissal of Plaintiff's claims against M&H, as Plaintiff cannot plead any basis from which the Court could hold the law firm liable for the foreclosure activities of QLSW, a separate and distinct corporation. Nor can she identify any violation of the DTA that would impose liability on the law firm for the nonjudicial foreclosure.

### 2) Plaintiff Cannot Pierce the Corporate Veil to Hold M&H Liable for the Actions of the Trustee.

Plaintiff's Complaint also concludes that M&H is liable for the foreclosure activities of QLSW as its alleged subsidiary. This conclusion is premised on a faulty understanding of principles of corporate law and corporate disregard. "The purpose of a corporation is to limit liability." *Meisel v. M & N Modern Hydraulic Press Co.*, 97 Wn.2d 403, 411 (1982). A corporation exists separate and distinct from the personality of its shareholders. The mere formation of separate corporate entities is not misconduct and does not provide any basis for holding the individual owners or shareholders liable for the corporation's activities. *Id*.

Moreover, "[i]t is a general principle of corporate law deeply ingrained in our economic and legal systems that a parent corporation ... is not liable for the acts of its subsidiaries." *Minton v. Ralston Purina Co.*, 146 Wn.2d 385, 398 (2002) (citations omitted). Indeed, for a parent

corporation to be liable for the obligations of its subsidiary, the party seeking relief must show that there is an overt intention by the corporation to disregard the corporate entity in order to avoid a duty owed to the party seeking to invoke the doctrine. *Id.*, citing *Morgan v. Burks*, 93 Wn.2d 580, 587 (1980).

The alleged facts on which Plaintiff bases her claims against QLSW and M&H are that the two entities are "operationally related," commingle employees, (OB 4; 45, CP 85), and that M&H owns QLSW. Even assuming the truth of these "facts," the Complaint still fails to state a cause of action against M&H because these facts do not provide any basis to pierce the corporate veil to impute the actions of QLSW to M&H.

The Court may disregard the corporate distinction by "piercing the corporate veil," but only in exceptional circumstances to prevent injustice. Eagle Pac. Ins. Co. v. Christensen Motor Yacht Corp., 85 Wn. App. 695, 707-08 (1997). Washington recognizes two theories to justify piercing the corporate veil. Grayson v. Nordic Construction Co., Inc., 92 Wn.2d 548, 552-553 (1979). The first is where the corporate entity has been disregarded; the second is where the corporate entity is nothing more than the alter ego of the principals. Id. The facts of this case do not support either basis for holding M&H liable for the alleged acts of QSLW.

#### a. There Was No Disregard of the Corporate Identity.

The test for piercing the corporate veil based on disregard of the corporate entity requires proof of two elements: (1) the corporate form is intentionally used to violate or evade a duty; and (2) disregarding the

corporate form is necessary and required to prevent unjustified loss to the injured party. *Meisel*, 97 Wn.2d at 410. Importantly, "commingling" of assets alone is not sufficient to meet the test, nor is the sharing of employees, officers, clients, physical addresses or business interests. *See Norhawk Inv., Inc. v. Subway Sandwich Shops*, 61 Wn. App. 395 (1991) (notwithstanding the commingling of assets, piercing the corporate veil was not appropriate because the corporate form was not being used to mislead and evade a duty to plaintiff); *Rogerson Hiller Corp. et al v. Port of Port Angeles*, 96 Wn. App. 918 (1999) (finding that sole shareholder of multiple corporations commingled finances, banking transaction, employee savings plans, and inventories, but that "commingling" alone was insufficient to pierce corporate veil).

Plaintiff's attempt to pierce QLSW's corporate veil and hold M&H liable for QLSW's alleged violations of the DTA is based exclusively on commingling of assets, employees and operations (OB6) and fails to satisfy the required elements under the corporate disregard theory. Plaintiff cannot satisfy the first element by demonstrating an abuse of the corporate form. The facts alleged by Plaintiff are that QLSW is advancing the nonjudicial foreclosure of the subject property, and that QLSW violated various provisions of the DTA by failing to obtain proof of the beneficiary's authority to foreclose. (CP 94.) Even if these facts were true, they would not demonstrate any misuse of the corporate form. The DTA expressly allows a Washington corporation to act as trustee. RCW 61.24.010(1)(a). QLSW's alleged failure to properly advance the

foreclosure does not constitute a misuse of the corporate form to evade creditors, and accordingly no basis has been shown to pierce the veil and hold QLSW's individual shareholders (allegedly including M&H) liable for violations of the DTA.

As to the second element, Plaintiff cannot prove that disregarding QLSW's corporate form to reach M&H is necessary or required to prevent her unjustified loss. To the contrary, under the DTA, Plaintiff's requests to enjoin the foreclosure and seek other relief would be appropriate against QLSW as trustee. See RCW 61.24.130. Enjoining M&H from foreclosing would be hollow relief, as M&H is not the successor trustee and is not taking any actions to foreclose. Moreover, there are no allegations that QLSW would be unable to pay any potential monetary judgment rendered against it. Hence, piercing the corporate veil to hold M&H liable for QLSW's foreclosure activities is neither necessary nor required to prevent Plaintiff from suffering an alleged loss.

#### b. QLSW is Not M&H's Alter Ego.

Plaintiff's allegations also do not satisfy the test for piercing the corporate veil based on the alter ego theory, which requires that there be "such unity of ownership and interest that the separateness of the corporation has ceased to exist." *Grayson*, 92 Wn.2d at 553 (citation omitted). However, a corporation's separate legal identity is not lost merely because all of its stock is held by one person or entity. *Id.* Plaintiff alleges that QSLW is owned by M&H, and, as such, that QSLW and the law firm are acting as a single entity. (OB 45) Proceeding under

this theory would only be appropriate if regarding "the two corporations" as separate would aid the consummation of a fraud or wrong upon others." 

J.I. Case Credit Corp. v. Stark, 64 Wn.2d 470, 475 (1964). Commingling of property and interests above is not enough. Norhawk, 61 Wn. App. at 401. Likewise, "[h]arm alone does not create corporate misconduct." Id. at 400. (citation omitted). Plaintiff's corporate disregard claim rests on faulty legal conclusions and she has not identified any basis on which to overturn the trial court's dismissal of this claim.

Therefore, this Court should affirm the dismissal of all claims against M&H.

### IV. <u>Dismissal of Plaintiff's Other Claims is Appropriate.</u>

### A. Plaintiff Does Not Assign Error to the Trial Court's Dismissal of Her Other Claims.

Plaintiff's Complaint and Amended Complaint asserted several causes of action in addition to her DTA claim, including claims for negligence, consumer protection violations, and quiet title. (CP 16-25, 97-106.) But her Opening Brief fails to address anything beyond the DTA claim. Because Plaintiff has not raised any assignments of error arising out of the dismissal of her other causes of action, she has waived any right to claim such errors. *See Ortblad v. State*, 85 Wn.2d 109, 111-112 (1975). In addition, Plaintiff's Opening Brief abandoned many of the

constitutional theories alleged in her Complaint, including due process, right to trial by jury, separation of powers, and taking.

This Court "will not consider issues on appeal that are not raised by an assignment of error or are not supported by argument and citation of authority." *McKee v. American Home Products, Corp.*, 113 Wn.2d 701, 705 (1989); RAP 10.3(a). Where Plaintiff's brief contains no argument or citation to authority pertaining to the omitted issues, this Court will deny review of those arguments. *Ang v. Martin*, 154 Wn.2d 477, 486-487, (2005); RAP 10.3(a).

The Court should affirm the dismissal of all remaining causes of action in the Amended Complaint, and not consider theories not raised in Plaintiff's Opening Brief.<sup>7</sup>

# B. Plaintiff Waived Her Non-Constitutional Law Claims During Oral Argument.

"A waiver is the intentional and voluntary relinquishment of a known right, or such conduct as warrants an inference of the relinquishment of such right." *Bowman v. Webster*, 44 Wn.2d 667, 669, (1954). At oral argument, Plaintiff's counsel expressly abandoned all claims other than the constitutional argument. He declared: "We're not coming before you under the Deed of Trust Act. We're coming before you

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Additionally, Plaintiff's CPA claims are barred by the statute of limitations, as briefed in the Motions to Dismiss (CP 145-146) and, thus, those claims are moot. RCW 19.86.120; *Spokane Research*, 155 Wn.2d at 99.

directly under the Constitution. We're saying the statute is unconstitutional." RP (7/19/13) 27:20-22. The trial judge noted: "[Ms. Jackson's] response seemed to waive all DTA claim[s], violations, and only want[s] the Court to consider constitutional violations." *Id.*, at 32:1-15. Plaintiff's counsel followed with a request to have the court certify solely the constitutional law question to the Supreme Court. *Id.*, at 35:4-36:3. Although the trial court's order granting Respondents' Motion to Dismiss does not include a waiver ruling, CP 211-13, 215-17, the words and conduct of Plaintiff's counsel support the finding that Plaintiff has waived all claims other than the constitutional claim. This Court should deem all of Plaintiff's arguments other than her constitutional argument to be waived, and the court should deny the constitutional argument for the reasons set forth above.

#### CONCLUSION

Plaintiff has waived all of her claims except her constitutional claim, and that claim cannot be considered because Plaintiff failed to serve the Attorney General. If the Court considers Plaintiff's constitutional argument, the Court should find the Deed of Trust Act to be constitutional.

The Court should not consider Plaintiff's non-constitutional claims, as those claims have been waived. If the Court does consider Plaintiff's non-constitutional claims, Plaintiff cannot prove that QSLW violated the Deed of Trust Act in advancing the nonjudicial foreclosure of her property. She also cannot prove any basis for liability against M&H, the

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